
4-29, signage

the central traffic circle at the intersection of tomasello and furlong drives is the position 
for our main monument sign. above is the graphic illustrating a potential signage scheme. 
the composition is a combination of natural planting, a random ashlar rock arc and a 
stainless AND CORTEN steel mohegan sun sign floating above a reflecting pond water feature.

233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



 
 

CITY OF BOSTON • MASSACHUSETTS 
 

OFFICE OF GAMING ACCOUNTABILITY 

City Hall, Room 620 Boston, MA 02201 

 

 

April 17, 2014 

 

Via Electronic Mail Delivery 

Massachusetts Gaming Commissioners 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

84 State Street, 10
th

 Floor 

Boston, Massachusetts 02109 

 

Re:  Objections to Public Hearing on Determining a Gaming Establishment  

 

Dear Massachusetts Gaming Commissioners and staff: 

 

The City of Boston (the “City”), on behalf of its residents, families, businesses and 

visitors, objects to the nature of the hearing to be conducted by the Massachusetts Gaming 

Commission (the “Commission”) as described in the Memorandum dated April 3,
 
2013, entitled 

Determining a Gaming Establishment.  The process described therein unreasonably limits and 

compromises the City’s ability to receive and present evidence in support of the City’s 

declarations as a host community to both Region A gaming applicants.  For the Commission to 

proceed in accordance with the process as outlined in the Memorandum would be violative of the 

City’s due process rights. Additionally, the City has grave concerns about prejudicial statements 

made by the Commission, as well as issues reported recently in the media regarding Region A.  

A. Prejudicial Statements 

Throughout the process, Chairman Crosby has made several statements, which the City 

deems prejudicial, including criticizing the City for asserting its host status on behalf of its 

public.  Section 3(u) of the Gaming Act requires Commissioners to conduct themselves in a 

manner to render decisions that are fair and impartial and in the public interest, and to avoid 

impropriety and the appearance of impropriety.  Taken together, the pending federal lawsuit, 

recent Commission statements, current press articles, and the Commissions’ own actions, create 

a cloud over the proceedings when Chairman Crosby participates.  Therefore, the City believes, 

in the best interest of a transparent process, that Chairman Crosby should recuse himself from all 

licensing matters in Region A. 

 

 

263



Page 2 of 4 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

Wednesday, April 17, 2014 

 

 

B. Mutable Process and Unfair Forum 

To begin with, the Commission has set up various unfair processes.  First, it called for an 

adjudicatory hearing that was not in compliance with its own Regulations.  Next, it amended its  

own process for an adjudicatory hearing which further compromised the due process rights of the 

citizens of the City.  Finally, after the City sent a letter questioning jurisdiction,
1
 as well as the 

fairness and legality of the adjudicatory process, the Commission changed the process again, this 

time announcing a public meeting with extremely limited or no due process or civil procedure 

rights.   

 

Setting aside any issues of jurisdiction, the City objects to the “legislative” procedure 

announced by the Commission because it does not match the “adjudicatory” question the 

Commission has set out to answer.  The Commission intends to “[d]etermine the premises of the 

gaming establishment for which” both Region A applicants seek approval, and to issue findings 

describing them.  Based on those findings, the Commission further intends to conclude whether 

Boston is a host community to either proposed casino.
2
  Those determinations carry the 

hallmarks of adjudicatory decisions.  They concern specific projects and determinations of fact 

related to the location of their sites and elements.  They overwhelmingly affect the interests of 

two specific casino applicants and one municipality that claims each application deprives it of its 

statutory entitlement to a community impact fee and other contractual benefits.
3
   

By contrast, acting in a legislative capacity involves making rules of general application 

and prospective effect.
4
  The determinations the Commission proposes will not set out rules that 

will take effect prospectively outside the context of these two casino applications.  In fact, 

members of the Commission and its counsel took pains to clarify that its determinations would 

not have a broader ongoing effect outside of Region A. See Transcript, Massachusetts Gaming 

Commission Meeting April 3, 2014, p. 129.
5
 

                                                 
1
 On March 25, 2014, the City’s counsel informed the Commission “that there is a significant 

preliminary legal question concerning whether the Commission has jurisdiction to decide the issue of 

Boston’s host community status.”  
2
 The Commission is attempting to create a forum to “organically” define the City’s status.  

3
 See Borden, Inc. v. Comm'r of Pub. Health, 388 Mass. 707, 716 (1983); see also Prentis v. 

Atlantic Coast Line Co., 211 U.S. 210, 226 (1908) (Holmes, J.) (“judicial inquiry investigates, declares 

and enforces liabilities as they stand on present or past facts and under laws supposed already to exist.”). 
4
 See Cambridge Elec. Light Co. v. Dep't of Pub. Utilities, 363 Mass. 474, 486 (1973); see also 

Prentis (“[l]egislation . . . looks to the future and changes existing conditions by making a new rule to be 

applied thereafter to all or some part of those subject to its power.”). 
5
 If the Commission was to engage in an actual legislative process of interpreting the definition of 

“gaming facility” contained in G. L. c. 23K, § 3, such an interpretation would have application throughout 

the state, comments of the City of Boston, Wynn MA, LLC, and Mohegan Sun MA, LLC, would not be 

prioritized, and the Commission would likely seek input on how an interpretation would impact the 

operation of other statutory provisions that operate on the term “gaming establishment,” such as the 

jurisdiction of the Commission Enforcement Division, § 6(c), jurisdiction of the State Police, § 6(f), 

necessity of Commission approval for transfer of various assets, § 19(c), and compliance with ongoing 

capital expense requirements, § 21. 

264



Page 3 of 4 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

Wednesday, April 17, 2014 

 

  

The Commission proposes no process for the City to obtain discovery from the 

applicants.  It eliminates the City’s opportunity to call witnesses, to cross-examine witnesses and 

to create an appropriate evidentiary record that is subject to legal review.  It also fails to address 

the burden of proof and a mechanism to resolve factual disputes based on documentary 

submissions with no live testimony.  In sum, the proposed procedure represents a thinly veiled 

attempt to “stack the deck” against the City on the “host community” issue so that the 

Commission can issue a Category 1 license in Region A without the City’s interference in the 

process.   

The City sheds light on the insufficiency of the Commission’s process not to “nickel and 

dime issues,” which the City believes is an unfair characterization; but to accurately express to 

the Commission and City’s residents the thoughtful and fair approach the City is taking to this 

issue.   

C. Commission Investigation Request 

 

The City requests that the Commission investigate issues based on the following two (2) 

The Boston Globe articles:  Andrea Estes and Sean P. Murphy, Everett May Buy Site, Sell it to 

Wynn for Casino Use: Plan Comes as Gambling Panel Worries about Felon’s Ties to Land, THE 

BOSTON GLOBE, April 16, 2014, p. A1; and Andrea Estes and Sean P. Murphy, Everett 

Landowner Resists Disclosure Pledge: Gambling Panel Wants Assurances Criminals won’t 

Profit from Selling Property to Wynn, THE BOSTON GLOBE, April 11, 2014, p. A1.  The City 

believes that issues raised in these articles require the Commission to conduct further 

investigation.  Our request appears to be consistent with statements of the Commission’s 

spokesman that the Commission would need to review the new land proposal.  

Furthermore, the City believes that the issues must be investigated, if not resolved, before 

Region A decisions of any kind can be made.  The City requests that all proceedings relating to 

licensure in Region A be postponed pending the Commission’s investigation into these matters.  

The City’s concern is that results of such investigation could impact licensure of the entire 

region, and that conducting a public hearing on Boston’s “host community” status is premature 

and could be rendered moot as it appears that the applicant has failed to meet the requirements of 

the Commissions conditional suitability determination.  Decisions involving the Region A 

applicants cannot be made at this time given the uncertainly of the issues as raised in these 

articles.   

While the Commission may think “[a] big price is being paid by a lot of people to try to 

accommodate the City’s concerns,” the City believes that preserving the democratic process and 

due process rights of its citizens is invaluable and consistent with the purposes of the Gaming 

Act. 

 

 

 

265



Page 4 of 4 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

Wednesday, April 17, 2014 

 

Sincerely, 

 

        
 

Elizabeth Dello Russo 

Senior Assistant Corporation Counsel 

Gaming Accountability Office 

 

 

 

 

Cc: Via Electronic Delivery 
 

John Ziemba, Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

Catherine Blue, Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

Eugene O’Flaherty, City of Boston Corporation Counsel  

Alexis Tkachuk, Office of the Corporation Counsel   

Thomas C. Frongillo, Fish & Richardson P.C.  

Ariel I. Raphael, Fish & Richardson P.C. 

Mary Marshall, Nutter, McClennen & Fish 

William F. Kennedy, Nutter, McClennen & Fish 

S. Anderson, Anderson & Krieger  

David Mackey, Anderson & Krieger 

 

 

 

 

266



267



268



 

Meeting Minutes 

 
 

 

Date/Time: 

 

March 6, 2014 – 9:30 a.m. 

 

Place:  Boston Convention and Exhibition Center 

415 Summer Street, Room 102 

Boston, Massachusetts 

 

Present: Commissioner Stephen P. Crosby, Chairman  

Commissioner Gayle Cameron 

Commissioner James F. McHugh 

Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 

Commissioner Enrique Zuniga 

 

Absent: None 

 
 

Clicking on the time posted in the margin will link  

directly to the appropriate section of the video. 
 

 

Call to Order 

See transcript page 2.   

 

9:29 a.m. Chairman Crosby opened the 112th public meeting.  

 

Approval of Minutes 

See transcript pages 2-5.   

 

9:30 a.m. Commissioner McHugh stated that the minutes for the January 28, January 29, 

February 6, February 18, and February 20 public meetings are ready for approval. 

 

 Motion made by Commissioner McHugh that the minutes of February 6, 2014 be 

accepted subject to any mechanical or typographical corrections that may later be 

made. Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  The motion passed 

unanimously. 

 

 Motion made by Commissioner McHugh that the minutes of February 20, 2014 be 

accepted subject to any mechanical or typographical corrections that may later be 

made. Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  The motion passed 

unanimously. 

 

269

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=0s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=15s


Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes, Public Meeting #112                     March 6, 2014 

 

 

 

 

Page 2 

 

 

 

 Motion made by Commissioner McHugh that the minutes of January 28, 2014, 

January 29, 2014, and February 18, 2014 be accepted subject to any mechanical or 

typographical corrections that may later be made. Motion seconded by 

Commissioner Cameron.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

Administration 

See transcript pages 5-67. 

 

9:33 a.m. Executive Director Day provided an administrative update relative to license 

applications, a video guide for gaming employees, the MOU with State Police, 

recruitment of new employees, and the process for regulation promulgation. 

 

9:43 a.m. Director Lennon provided an updated on Commission finances and internal 

operations. 

 

10:04 a.m. Executive Director Day described the licensing schedule and highlighted the 

changes to the Region A schedule. 

 

10:11 a.m. Ombudsman Ziemba presented the status of Region C and the Commission 

discussed methods for increasing competitiveness in the region. 

 

10:35 a.m. Executive Director Day presented the final agenda for the Commission’s Internet 

Gaming Forum. 

 

RFA-2 Evaluation Process 

See transcript pages 67-97. 

 

10:38 a.m. Jennifer Pinck and Nancy Stack provided an overview of the Category 2 licensing 

process and the implications for Category 1 evaluations. 

 

11:11 a.m. The Commission took a brief recess. 

 

Gaming Technology 

See transcript pages 97-127. 

 

11:24 a.m. Director Glennon and Attorney Shtatnov provided an overview of the draft 

regulations for gaming devices and noted policy issues for Commission discussion 

at a future public meeting. 

 

Surrounding Community Arbitration  

See transcript pages 127-142. 

 

11:57 a.m. The Commission discussed the arbitration process for surrounding communities. 

 

270

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=203s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=804s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=2106s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=2501s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=3966s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=4130s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=6126s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=6136s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=8096s


Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes, Public Meeting #112                     March 6, 2014 

 

 

 

 

Page 3 

 

 

 

12:14 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner McHugh that the Commission adopt a provision for 

allowing the Commission to alter an arbitrator’s award if in the Commission’s 

judgment that award is fundamentally inconsistent with the provisions or purpose of 

General Laws Chapter 23K, and further that the arbitrator’s handbook be modified 

by striking the final sentence of the portion of the handbook labeled final decision 

of the arbitrators. And replacing that final sentence with a sentence that reads, “the 

arbitrators may make adjustments to the selected best and final offer only if 

necessary to remove a direct conflict between a provision of the selected award and 

a provision of the Gaming Act.” Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron. The 

motion passed unanimously.  

 

12:16 p.m. The Commission took a recess for lunch. 

 

Research and Problem Gaming 

See transcript pages 142-205. 

 

1:31 p.m. Director Vander Linden and Dr. Debi LaPlante discussed the efforts that 

Massachusetts has been taking to combat problem gaming. 

 

1:42 p.m. Director Vander Linden and Marlene Warner discussed the Commission’s 

responsible gaming framework.  

 

1:58 p.m. Director Vander Linden and Deputy General Counsel Grossman presented the 

problem gaming voluntary self-exclusion regulations. The Commission discussed 

the public comments received and the changes made since the prior version of the 

regulations. 

 

2:24 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner Cameron that the Commission accept the draft of 

the voluntary self-exclusion regulations with whatever technical changes may be 

requested. Motion seconded by Commissioner Zuniga. The motion passed 

unanimously.  

 

2:25 p.m. Director Vander Linden provided an update on the current status of the research 

agenda. 

 

Legal Division 

See transcript pages 205-206 

 

2:38 p.m. Chairman Crosby requested that the legal division provide the Commissioners with 

more information on the public records process. 

 

Workforce Development and Diversity 
See transcript pages 206-222. 

 

2:40 p.m. Director Griffin discussed the Clean Energy Fair that occurred on February 2. 

 

271

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=9139s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q216X1-T_mQ#t=9241s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=24s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=716s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=1659s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=3218s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=3272s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=4077s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=4153s


Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes, Public Meeting #112                     March 6, 2014 

 

 

 

 

Page 4 

 

 

 

2:45 p.m. Director Griffin presented an overview of the diversity commitments from Penn 

National. 

 

2:59 p.m. Chairman Crosby and Commissioner Cameron left the meeting. 

 

3:00 p.m. The Commission took a brief recess. 

 

Racing Division 

See transcript pages 222-248. 

 

3:05 p.m. Director Durenberger presented the unclaimed wagers from 2012 and requested that 

the Commission approve the payments to the Commission for deposit into the 

appropriate accounts. 

 

3:06 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner Zuniga to approve the payments for the 2012 

unclaimed wagers. Motion seconded by Commissioner Stebbins. The motion passed 

3-0.  

 

3:07 p.m. Director Durenberger presented Raynham Park’s request to simulcast special events 

and recommended that the Commission approve the request.  

 

3:08 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner Stebbins that the Commission approve the list of 

2014 special events to be simulcast at Raynham Park. Motion seconded by 

Commissioner Zuniga. The motion passed 3-0. 

 

3:08 p.m. Director Durenberger presented updates to the racing legislation and recommended 

approving the first two sections as outlined in the memo. 

 

3:12 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner Zuniga that the Commission forward to the 

Legislature recommendations relative to extension of Chapters 128A and C as 

outlined in the memo here labeled Section one and Section two. Motion seconded by 

Commissioner Stebbins. The motion passed 3-0. 

 

3:13 p.m. Director Durenberger presented emergency regulations affecting 205 CMR 3.00 

and 4.00 relative to conflict of interest, access to records, and the cost of 

fingerprinting. The Commission requested additional information and agreed to 

postpone the discussion until March 20. 

 

3:32 p.m. Meeting adjourned.  

 

List of Documents and Other Items Used 
 

1. Massachusetts Gaming Commission March 6, 2014 Notice of Meeting and Agenda 

2. Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes of February 18, 2014 

3. Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes of February 20, 2014 

4. Massachusetts Gaming Commission February 28, 2014 Licensing Schedule Update 

272

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=4476s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=5317s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=5369s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=5406s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=5480s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=5498s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=5548s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=5575s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=5815s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=5874s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Vd6_JjniNKQ#t=7005s


Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes, Public Meeting #112                     March 6, 2014 

 

 

 

 

Page 5 

 

 

 

5. Category 1 and 2 Applicant Timelines 

6. Massachusetts Gaming Commission March 11, 2014 Internet Gaming Forum Agenda 

7. Massachusetts Gaming Commission March 4, 2014 Memorandum Regarding 

Surrounding Community Arbitration Process 

8. Massachusetts Gaming Commission March 6, 2014 Division of Racing Memorandum 

Regarding Outstanding Tickets 

9. Massachusetts Gaming Commission March 6, 2014 Division of Racing Memorandum 

Regarding Approval of Special Events to be Simulcast at Raynham Park 

10. Massachusetts Gaming Commission March 6, 2014 Division of Racing Memorandum 

Regarding Proposed Extension of Existing Chapters 128A and 128C 

11. Massachusetts Gaming Commission March 6, 2014 Division of Racing Memorandum 

Regarding Emergency Regulation Changes Affecting 205 CMR 3.00 and 4.00 

12. Cambridge Health Alliance document 

13. 205 CMR 133 Voluntary Self-Exclusion Regulation 

14. Responsible Gaming Framework 

15. Clean Energy Expo Agenda 

16. 205 CMR 138 Gaming Devices and Electronic Gaming Equipment Regulation 

  

 

/s/ Catherine Blue 

Catherine Blue 

Assistant Secretary 

273



 

Meeting Minutes 

 
 

 

Date/Time: 

 

April 17, 2014 – 10:30 a.m. 

 

Place:  Boston Convention and Exhibition Center 

415 Summer Street, Room 152 

Boston, Massachusetts 

 

Present: Commissioner Stephen P. Crosby, Chairman  

Commissioner Gayle Cameron 

Commissioner James F. McHugh 

Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 

Commissioner Enrique Zuniga 

 

Absent: None 

 
 

Clicking on the time posted in the margin will link  

directly to the appropriate section of the video. 
 

 

Call to Order 

See transcript pages 2.   

 

10:31 a.m. Chairman Crosby opened the 117th public meeting.  

 

Approval of Minutes 

See transcript pages 2-6.   

 

10:31 a.m. Commissioner McHugh stated that the minutes for the March 20 and April 3 public 

meetings are ready for approval. 

 

 Motion made by Commissioner McHugh that the minutes of March 20, 2014 be 

accepted subject to any mechanical or typographical corrections that may later be 

made. Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  The motion passed 

unanimously. 

 

 Motion made by Commissioner McHugh that the minutes of April 3, 2014 be 

accepted subject to the two clarifications discussed and any mechanical or 

typographical corrections that may later be made. Motion seconded by 

Commissioner Zuniga.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 

274



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes, Public Meeting #117                     April 17, 2014 

 

 

 

 

Page 2 

 

 

 

Ombudsman Report 

See transcript pages 6-141. 

 

10:35 a.m. Commissioner Zuniga presented and the Commission discussed the definition of 

minimal capital investment as it applies to Region C. 

 

11:38 a.m. Motion made by Commissioner Zuniga that the Commission waive 205 CMR 

122.04(4) for Region C gaming applicants. Motion seconded by Commissioner 

Crosby. The motion passed by a 3-2 vote with Commissioners Crosby, Stebbins, and 

Zuniga voting aye and Commissioners Cameron and McHugh voting nay.  

 

11:41 a.m. Ombudsman Ziemba presented and the Commission discussed possible 

modifications to the Region C schedule. 

 

11:59 a.m. Ombudsman Ziemba introduced Blue Tarp Redevelopment’s request relative to 

license timing. Michael Mathis, Jed Nosal, and Martin Nastasia presented the 

request on behalf of Blue Tarp Redevelopment. 

 

12:13 p.m. Ombudsman Ziemba introduced the requests of the Town of Winthrop and Blue 

Tarp Redevelopment for a variance from the arbitration process and recommended 

that the Commission grant the extension requested. 

 

12:16 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner McHugh that the Commission grant the requests of 

the Town of Winthrop and Blue Tarp Redevelopment to extend the arbitration 

commencement deadline to May 1, 2014. Motion seconded by Commissioner 

Cameron. The motion passed unanimously. 

 

12:17 p.m. Ombudsman Ziemba introduced petitions from the Town of Chelsea and the City of 

Somerville to extend the deadlines for the surrounding community process.  

 

12:19 p.m. Frank Wright and Jason Grossfield presented the Town of Chelsea’s petition. Tony 

Starr presented Wynn’s response. 

 

12:50 p.m.  The Commission took a brief recess. 

 

12:59 p.m. Ombudsman Ziemba and General Counsel Blue described the staff’s proposed 

approach for handling Region A arbitration extension requests.  

 

1:16 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner McHugh that the Commission authorize 

Ombudsman Ziemba to grant mutually acceptable extensions to the arbitration 

deadlines so long as the total number of days of the extension does not exceed 14 

days. Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron. The motion passed 

unanimously.  

 

Legal Report 

See transcript pages 141-157. 

275



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes, Public Meeting #117                     April 17, 2014 

 

 

 

 

Page 3 

 

 

 

 

1:18 p.m. Executive Director Day provided the Commission with the latest version of the 

project monitoring regulations and requested that the Commission adopt the 

regulations on an emergency basis. 

 

1:36 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner Zuniga that the Commission adopt by emergency 

205 CMR 135 subject to the amendments discussed. Motion seconded by 

Commissioner Cameron. The motion passed unanimously. 

 

1:36 p.m. General Counsel Blue and Deputy General Counsel Grossman provided a general 

overview and status of the public comment process relative to premises of the 

gaming establishments for which Mohegan Sun Massachusetts, LLC and Wynn 

MA, LLC seek approval in their RFA-2 applications. 

 

1:38 p.m. Commissioner Zuniga left the public meeting. The Commission took a recess for 

lunch. 

 

Racing Division 

See transcript pages 158-194. 

 

2:26 p.m. Director Durenberger provided an administrative update relative to the start of the 

Plainridge racing season, the post time change request from Suffolk Downs, and the 

Racehorse Development Fund. 

 

2:28 p.m. Director Durenberger presented to the Commission a list of racing officials that the 

Racing Division will be approving. 

 

2:31 p.m. Director Durenberger presented her recommendation for split sample laboratories 

and requested Commission approval. 

 

2:33 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner Cameron that the Commission accept the list of four 

laboratories outlined in Director Durenberger’s memo to conduct split sample 

testing. Motion seconded by Commissioner Stebbins. The motion passed 

unanimously by a 4-0 vote. 

 

2:34 p.m. Director Durenberger presented the controlled substance schedule advisory. 

 

2:36 p.m. Director Durenberger presented her memo relative to horse welfare. 

 

Workforce Development and Diversity 

See transcript pages 194-273. 

 

3:05 p.m. Director Griffin presented the second draft of the Penn National Gaming and Turner 

Construction Diversity Plan for the Commission’s consideration. Karen Bailey, 

Emil Giordano, John Rauen, and Alison Stanton, representing Penn National 

Gaming and Turner Construction, responded to the Commission’s questions. 

276



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes, Public Meeting #117                     April 17, 2014 

 

 

 

 

Page 4 

 

 

 

 

3:56 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner Stebbins that the Commission give preliminary 

approval to the diversity plan for the design and construction phase of Plainridge 

Park Casino with subsequent issues to be addressed which are discussions around 

enforcement penalties and an expanded definition of pre- and post-design work for 

MBEs, WBEs and VBEs. Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron. The motion 

passed unanimously by a 4-0 vote. 

 

3:57 p.m. The Commission took a brief recess. 

 

4:06 p.m. Director Griffin discussed the proposed changes relative to the 10 year mandatory 

disqualification period for gaming service employees.  

 

4:27 p.m. Motion made by Commissioner Stebbins that the Commission encourage the 

inclusion of an amendment to G.L. c. 23K, § 16, which would eliminate the 

automatic disqualifier language for a gaming service employee. Motion seconded 

by Commissioner Cameron. The motion passed unanimously by a 4-0 vote. 

 

4:28 p.m. Director Griffin presented the preliminary draft of the Commission’s gaming school 

regulations. 

 

Administration  

See transcript pages 273-287. 

 

4:46 p.m. The Commission briefly discussed the remaining topics on the agenda. 

 

4:51 p.m. Jennifer Pinck described the OPM Project Management Plan for the slots parlor 

development. 

 

4:59 p.m. Meeting adjourned. 

 

List of Documents and Other Items Used 
 

1. Massachusetts Gaming Commission April 17, 2014 Notice of Meeting and Agenda 

2. Massachusetts Gaming Commission Meeting March 6, 2014 Meeting Minutes 

3. Massachusetts Gaming Commission Meeting March 20, 2014 Meeting Minutes 

4. Massachusetts Gaming Commission Meeting April 3, 2014 Meeting Minutes 

5. Massachusetts Gaming Commission 3/31/2014 Licensing Schedule Update Region B 

6. Massachusetts Gaming Commission 3/31/2014 Licensing Schedule Update Region C 

Scenario 1 

7. Massachusetts Gaming Commission 3/31/2014 Licensing Schedule Update Region C 

Scenario 2 

8. Massachusetts Gaming Commission 3/31/2014 Licensing Schedule Update Region C 

Scenario 3 

9. Comment Letters Summary Issues 

277



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes, Public Meeting #117                     April 17, 2014 

 

 

 

 

Page 5 

 

 

 

10. April 14, 2014 Massachusetts Gaming Commission Memorandum Regarding Discussion 

of Eligible Costs for Minimum Investment Amount – Region C with attachments 

11. April 15, 2014 City of Somerville Memorandum 

12. April 15, 2014 Mintz Levin Memorandum 

13. April 16, 2014 Mintz Levin Memorandum 

14. Massachusetts Gaming Commission April 16, 2014 Memorandum Regarding Region A 

Arbitration Extension Requests 

15. Plainridge Racecourse March 14, 2014 Memorandum Regarding Key Operating 

Personnel 

16. Plainridge Racecourse April 7, 2014 Memorandum Regarding 2014 Racing Officials 

17. Massachusetts Gaming Commission April 17, 2014 Memorandum Recommendation 

Regarding Split Sample Laboratories for 2014 

18. Massachusetts Gaming Commission Horses First and Attachments 

19. Model Legislation for a National Racing Regulatory Entity 

20. Massachusetts Gaming Commission April 17, 2014 Memorandum Regarding Horses 

First 

21. RCI Medication Advisory 

22. 205 CMR 135 

23. Diversity Plan for the Design and Construction Phase of Plainridge Park Casino 

24. Coastal Construction & Management Memorandum 

25. DRAFT 205 CMR 141 

26. DRAFT 205 CMR 138 

27. DRAFT 205 CMR 139 

28. DRAFT 205 CMR 140 

29. Massachusetts Gaming Commission Gaming Lab Operating Model Roles 

30. Pinck and Company Oversight Project Management Program Management Plan 

31. Massachusetts Gaming Commission April 17, 2014 Memorandum Regarding FY14 Third 

Quarter Budget Update 

32. Massachusetts Gaming Commission Employee Handbook 

33. Massachusetts Gaming Commission April 10, 2014 Memorandum Regarding Proposed 

Legislative Changes Regarding Chapter 23K, Section 16 

 

/s/ Catherine Blue 

Catherine Blue 

Assistant Secretary 

278



 
 
 
 
 
 

5(a) – NO DOCUMENTS 
 
 
5(b) – NO DOCUMENTS 

 

279



 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Date:  April 25, 2014 

To:  The Honorable Deval L. Patrick, Governor 
The Honorable Therese Murray, Senate President  
The Honorable Robert A. DeLeo, Speaker of the House 
The Honorable Stephen M. Brewer, Chair, Senate Committee on Ways and Means 
The Honorable Brian S. Dempsey, Chair, House Committee on Ways and Means 
The Honorable Gale D. Candaras, Senate Chair, Joint Committee on Economic Development and 
Emerging Technologies 
The Honorable Joseph F. Wagner, House Chair, Joint Committee on Economic Development and 
Emerging Technologies 

From:  Stephen P. Crosby, Chair, Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

Re:  Request from Casino Applicants and Others for Changes in Expanded Gaming Legislation 

 

 
Both the MGM and Wynn Category 1 license applications were accompanied by a number of issues the 
applicants say need to be resolved before they can operate successfully in Massachusetts. (It has not 
been made clear whether either MGM or Wynn would refuse to proceed with the license award without 
amendment to one or more of these issues. Mohegan Sun Massachusetts has stated clearly that it does 
not require any legislative changes to proceed, and in fact supports the legislation as it stands.)  
 
In addition, there have been certain issues raised by other constituents that might require legislative 
change, which we have considered. 

Consistent with our decision on the Category 2 license, our intention is that if we pick a Category 1 
winner for Regions A and B, that we will offer the award contingent upon compliance with the law as it 
exists at the time. The Commission has never discussed how it will respond to a license winner if it sets 
changes in the law as preconditions for acceptance of the award. However, we have considered the 
substance of these issues to prepare ourselves for the possibility of license negotiations. And most 
importantly, we have considered these issues in order to provide the Governor and the Legislature with 

280



our best judgment as to whether these issues actually would require legislative action for resolution; 
and if so, whether the MGC believes such action is desirable.  
 
It is particularly time sensitive that we deal with all of the issues related to the present $600 threshold 
for income tax withholding (found in Chapter 62B, Section 2, and previously addressed by the 
Commission), since the Legislature is awaiting our advice on these issues before it undertakes its own 
analysis. 
 
Following are the major suggestions for Legislative action that have been brought to our attention, and 
our recommendations for Legislative response: 

1. Pending Repeal Referendum.  
Both MGM and Wynn have expressed concern about their considerable financial exposure in 
the case of a license award which is followed by repeal of the gaming legislation (should the SJC 
permit the ballot question to go forward, and should it be successful in the November election). 
There are 2 categories of financial issues that will be triggered by the license award and/or a 
delay caused by awaiting the outcome of the repeal initiative:  
 

A. Costs under the control of the Gaming Commission. 
The Gaming Commission has four different fees it is authorized to assess upon the 
award of the gaming license, and a fifth category of costs it can influence, associated 
with construction: 
 

• $85M one time licensing fee 
• Slot machine fee of $600 per unit 
• Gaming assessment fee to cover operating costs 
• Public Health Trust Fund fee 
• Project construction and costs, schedule penalties, 10% investment deposit, 

and site acquisition requirements 
 

       In previous discussions, the Commission has provided itself flexibility to make 
license awards provisional or contingent, in a manner that would enable it to 
compromise on the date of assessing these fees, and modify construction 
constraints, if the Commission believes it is appropriate to do so. While we have 
expressed our opinion that legislative action promising to return the $85M license 
fee in the event of a subsequent repeal would be a reasonable action, we do not 
believe that legislative action is required to provide relief for these five cost 
categories. 

B. Costs not within the control of the Commission.  
There are at least three costs which the Commission cannot control: 

281



• Contingent project site payments  
• Certain project construction costs 
• Certain costs associated with Host Community Agreements and Surrounding 

Community Agreements. 

MGM acknowledges that there may be little direct relief the Commission can 
provide for these potential costs, and requests that the Commission provide 
“guidance” for an appropriate form of relief. We have not yet pursued what, if any, 
guidance we could provide here, but we do not believe that legislative action is 
required or appropriate in helping to deal with these issues. 

2. Chapter 23K, Section 18: On-site child daycare program. 
Section 18. In determining whether an applicant shall receive a gaming license, the commission 
shall evaluate and issue a statement of findings of how each applicant proposes to advance the 
following objectives: (9) establishing, funding and maintaining human resource hiring and 
training practices that promote the development of a skilled and diverse workforce and access to 
promotion opportunities through a workforce training program that: (iii) establishes an on-site 
child day-care program. 
 
Both Wynn (calling for a repeal) and MGM (calling for amendment permitting a facility in 
proximity to the site) find this requirement unacceptable. However, on close reading of Section 
18 (9)(iii), it is clear that providing a facility is not a requirement, but rather something the 
Commission should consider in determining whether an applicant shall receive a gaming license.  
We believe the Commission can address this issue through its regulatory authority, and it will 
not require legislative action. 
 

3. Chapter 23K, Section 55(a): Tax Rates. 
Section 55 (a) A category 1 licensee shall pay a daily tax of 25 per cent on gross gaming 
revenues. 
 
Both Wynn and MGM call for assurances that the present 25% tax rate on gross gaming 
revenues will not be changed during the licensing period (for 15 years). The Commission does 
not have any authority relative to setting the tax rate. We have checked with other jurisdictions, 
and except for rare circumstances (like an underlying contract in Kansas), all tax rates are 
subject to Legislative change. It is our view that it is unlikely that the present Legislature can or 
would bind a future Legislature vis a vis guaranteeing the present tax rate.   
 

4. License Parameters. 
MGM expresses concern that the Legislature might allow the Category 2 licensee to offer table 
games, and that such a change would create an unfair competitive environment for the 
Category 1 license holders by changing the landscape, and accordingly the economics, on which 
they have relied in crafting their proposed projects. If this change were to occur, MGM asks that 

282



the Commission consider a variety of types of relief, including reducing the Category 1 table 
game tax rate.  
 
The Commission does not have any authority relative to setting the tax rate or reducing the 
Category 1 table game tax rate.  Further, as mentioned above, it is unlikely that the present 
Legislature can or would bind a future Legislature vis a vis prohibiting a change (such as adding 
table games to Category 2) in the future.  Accordingly, we do not believe that either 
Commission or legislative action is called for on this issue at this point, although the 
Commission will consider establishing a position in favor of no changes to key licensing 
parameters during the 15 year license period. 
 

5. Chapter 23K, Section 21(A)(4): Capital Expenditures. 
Section 21 (a) The commission shall prescribe the form of the gaming license, which shall 
include, but not be limited to, the following license conditions for each licensee. The licensee 
shall: (4) make, or cause to be made, capital expenditures to its gaming establishment in a 
minimum aggregate amount equal to 3.5 per cent of the net gaming revenues derived from the 
establishment; provided, however, that a gaming licensee may make capital expenditures in an 
amount less than 3.5 per cent per year as part of a multi-year capital expenditure plan approved 
by the commission 
 
Both Wynn and MGM interpret this section to require a minimum 3.5% annual investment of 
“net gaming revenues derived from the establishment” in renewing the capital infrastructure of 
the facility. Wynn calls for replacing the 3.5% with a qualitative standard, and MGM calls for 
repeal.  
 
The Commission believes that Wynn and MGM have applied an overly narrow reading to this 
section: notably, the first part of Section 21(a)(4) does not use the word “annual” (though it 
could be imputed given the context).  In the second section, the Commission is granted 
authority to approve expenditures of a lesser amount than 3.5% per year as part of a multi-year 
capital expenditure plan. We believe that the Commission can handle this issue in its 
regulations, and there is no need for legislative action. 
 
(Incidentally, it is not clear to the Commission what the Legislature intended by “net gaming 
revenues derived from the establishment,” and we would welcome clarification should the 
Legislature see fit to do so. But absent further actions by the Legislature, the Commission is fully 
prepared to use its statutory authority to interpret this clause.) 
 

6. Chapter 23K, Sections 9(A)(8) and 21(A)(16): On-site space for mental health treatments. 
Section 9 (a) The commission shall prescribe the form of the application for gaming licenses 
which shall require, but not be limited to: (8) an agreement that the applicant shall mitigate the 
potential negative public health consequences associated with gambling and the operation of a 
gaming establishment, including: (ii) providing complimentary on-site space for an independent 

283



substance abuse and mental health counseling service to be selected by the commission. 
Section 21. (a) The commission shall prescribe the form of the gaming license, which shall 
include, but not be limited to, the following license conditions for each licensee. The licensee 
shall: (16) provide complimentary on-site space for an independent substance abuse, compulsive 
gambling and mental health counseling service and establish a program to train gaming 
employees in the identification of and intervention with customers exhibiting problem gaming 
behavior. 
 
Wynn expresses concern that these sections require the licensees to provide comprehensive 
substance abuse, compulsive gambling and mental health counseling/treatment services. The 
Commission believes that the statute only requires that the licensee provide “complimentary 
on-site space” and that what services, if any, go in the space is determined by the Commission. 
We believe that this issue can be managed within the Commission’s regulatory authority, and 
does not require legislative action. 
 

7. Chapter 23K, Section 25(G): Gratuities 
Section 25 (g) A dealer may accept tips or gratuities from a patron at the table game where such 
dealer is conducting play; provided, however, that such tips or gratuities shall be placed in a pool 
for distribution among other dealers. The commission shall determine how tips and gratuities 
shall be set aside for the dealer pool as well as the manner of distribution among dealers. No key 
gaming employee or any other gaming official who serves in a supervisory position shall solicit or 
accept a tip or gratuity from a player or patron in the gaming establishment where the employee 
is employed. 
 
Wynn proposes that this section be changed to permit the licensee to determine how tips are 
pooled and distributed (though excluding participation of “the employers”). Several unions 
testified at the Region A surrounding community hearing against any modification of this law. 
 
There are two issues: one can be handled by way of regulation, one would require legislative 
action. First, it has been suggested that tip pooling should be left to the gaming licensee (and 
any labor organization where applicable) to determine the manner in which tips should be 
distributed.  The Commission is authorized to determine the manner in which tips and gratuities 
shall be set aside and distributed among dealers.  As such, it could, if it so chose, authorize by 
regulation the licensee and labor organization to resolve the issue amongst themselves. 
Secondly, it has been suggested that there are certain employees who may assist dealers, but 
who are not in fact dealers, and who are not in a managerial or supervisory position, who should 
be allowed a cut, though not a full dealer share, of the tips. Addressing this issue would require 
legislative action; however, it does not seem to the Commission that this is an important 
enough issue for the Legislature to take action. 
 

8. Chapter 23K, Section 28(B) and (C):  Reports of complimentary services. 

284



Section 28 (b) Gaming licensees shall submit quarterly reports to the commission covering all 
complimentary services offered or engaged in by the gaming licensee during the immediately 
preceding quarter. The reports shall identify regulated complimentary services and the costs of 
those services, the number of people who received each service or item and such other 
information as the commission may require. The report shall also document any services or items 
valued in excess of $2,000 that were provided to patrons, including detailed reasons as to why 
they were provided. (c) Complimentary services or items shall be valued in an amount based 
upon the retail price normally charged by the gaming licensee for the service or item. The value 
of a complimentary service or item not normally offered for sale by a gaming licensee or 
provided by a third party on behalf of a gaming licensee shall be the cost to the gaming licensee 
of providing the service or item, as determined under rules adopted by the commission. 
 
Both Wynn and MGM call for repeal of these sections as administratively burdensome, 
incompatible with other jurisdictions, and an invasion of their customers’ privacy. This 
requirement is quite similar to a New Jersey requirement, and other jurisdictions have reporting 
requirements at certain thresholds. At this point the Commission does not envision a compelling 
use for this data. We recommend that the Legislature replace the words “Gaming licensees 
shall. . .” at the beginning of Section 28(b) with “The Commission may require gaming 
licensees to. . .”. 
 

9. Chapter 23K, Section 29: Cashless wagering. 
Section 29 A gaming establishment offering a cashless wagering system shall allow individuals to 
monitor and impose betting limits on their cashless wagering. The gaming establishment shall 
allow individuals to set betting limits on their cashless wagering including, but not limited to, per 
bet limits, hourly limits, daily limits, weekly limits and monthly limits. An individual may lower 
limits and increase limits; provided, however, that the individual shall not increase betting limits 
more than once in a 24-hour period. The gaming establishment shall issue to each patron who 
has been issued a rewards card or who participates in a cashless wagering system by the gaming 
establishment a monthly statement, mailed to the patron at the patron’s physical mailing 
address, which shall include the patron’s total bets, wins and losses; provided, however, that a 
patron shall be given the opportunity to decline receiving a monthly statement at the time the 
rewards card is issued or during initial participation in a cashless wagering system; provided 
further, that a patron may later opt out of receiving monthly statements by providing a written 
request to cease monthly statements to the gaming establishment. A gaming licensee who has 
implemented such a program or system shall annually report to the commission the amount of 
money spent and lost by patrons who have been issued a rewards card or who participated in a 
cashless wagering system, aggregated by zip code. Activity under this section shall be monitored 
by the commission. Individuals on the list of excluded persons shall not be permitted to 
participate in a cashless wagering system. 
 
Both Wynn and MGM call for repeal of this section as administratively burdensome, ultimately 
counterproductive and an invasion of privacy. As best we can determine, none of our applicants 

285



intends to use a “costless wagering system” as defined in Section 2. There has been mixed 
reaction to the requirement of offering a monthly report to rewards card holders. But at this 
point, we do not see a need for Legislative action on this matter. 
 

10. Chapter 23K, Section 51: Past-due child support or tax liability constraint on disbursement of 
cash in excess of $600. 
Section 51 (a) Prior to disbursement of cash or a prize in excess of $600, a gaming licensee shall 
review information made available by the IV-D agency, as set forth in chapter 119A and by the 
department of revenue to ascertain whether the winner of the cash or prize owes past-due child 
support to the commonwealth or to an individual to whom the IV-D agency is providing services 
and to ascertain whether the winner of the cash or prize owes any past-due tax liability to the 
commonwealth. (b) If the winner of the cash or prize owes past-due child support or has a past-
due tax liability, the gaming licensee shall notify the IV-D agency or the commonwealth, 
respectively, of the winner’s name, address and social security number. Subsequent to statutory 
state and federal tax withholding, the gaming licensee shall first disburse to the IV-D agency the 
full amount of the cash or prize or such portion of the cash or prize that satisfies the winner’s 
past-due child support obligation. (c) If funds remain available after the disbursement to the IV-D 
agency or if no such obligation to the IV-D agency is owed, the gaming licensee shall disburse to 
the department of revenue the full amount of the cash or prize or such portion of the cash prize 
that satisfies the winner’s past-due tax liability. The licensee shall disburse to the holder only that 
portion of the prize, if any, remaining after the holder’s past-due child support obligation and the 
holder’s past-due tax liability have been satisfied. 
 
Both Wynn and MGM urge repeal of this section. However, there are similar requirements in 
many other jurisdictions and the Commission supports the policy objectives in this section. The 
problem is that DOR does not yet have an online, 24/7 capacity to check for such information on 
an expeditious and absolutely current basis. Such a system will probably not be available when 
the Category 2 license becomes operational. [Commissioners: do we recommend a jerry-rigged 
system or propose postponing until web portal available?] 
 

11. Chapter 23K, Section 52: Reports of winnings in excess of $600. 
Section 52 Gaming licensees shall, on a monthly basis, transmit to the department of transitional 
assistance and to the IV-D agency, as set forth in chapter 119A, a list of all persons who were 
awarded cash winnings or a prize in excess of $600 in the prior month. The information shall be 
provided in a format which is compatible with the automated data processing systems of the 
department and the IV-D agency to ensure the immediate identification of persons who may be 
receiving public assistance benefits. The information provided shall include the name, address 
and social security number of the person who was awarded the cash or prize valued in excess of 
$600. 
 
Wynn and MGM call for repeal of this section as administratively burdensome, inconsistent with 
other gaming jurisdictions, and of questionable public policy wisdom.  

286



 
The Commonwealth accepts the public policy objective of having licensees report significant 
winnings to DTA and DOR, and the Commission agrees with this requirement. Please note that 
this section seems to apply to both slots and table game winnings (unlike the withholding tax 
requirement that applies only to slots winnings). Other than changing the $600 threshold to 
match the $1200 threshold we have recommended elsewhere, the Commission does not 
believe legislative action is required. 
 

12. Chapter 23K, Section 56(C)(D) and (E): Commission costs and Public Health Trust Fund. 
Section 56 (c) Any remaining costs of the commission necessary to maintain regulatory control 
over gaming establishments that are not covered by: (i) the fees set forth in subsections (a) and 
(b); (ii) any other fees assessed under this chapter; or (iii) any other designated sources of 
funding, shall be assessed annually on gaming licensees under this chapter in proportion to the 
number of gaming positions at each gaming establishment. Each gaming licensee shall pay the 
amount assessed against it within 30 days after the date of the notice of assessment from the 
commission. (d) If the fees collected in subsections (a) and (b) exceed the cost required to 
maintain regulatory control, the surplus funds shall be credited in proportional shares against 
each gaming licensee’s next assessment. (e) In addition to the fees collected under this section 
and any additional costs of the commission, the commission shall assess an annual fee of not less 
than $5,000,000 in proportional shares against each gaming licensee in proportion to the 
number of gaming positions at each gaming establishment for the costs of service and public 
health programs dedicated to addressing problems associated with compulsive gambling or 
other addiction services. Such assessed fees shall be deposited into the Public Health Trust Fund 
established in section 58. 
 
Generally these sections refer to the authority given to the Commission to assess its operating 
costs (not covered by the $600 slot license fee and investigatory fees) by a proportional 
assessment on the licensees, as well as the assessment of an annual fee of not less than $5M for 
the Public Health Trust Fund. MGM and Wynn find the uncertainty as to the potentially limitless 
amounts associated with each assessment to be unsettling and recommend deleting the 
authority to assess remaining operating costs on the licensees; replacing the open ended 
assessment with a fixed fee; and freezing the Public Health Fund assessment at $5M.  
 
The Commission has already indicated its intent to involve the licensees in oversight of the 
Commission’s operating costs, and has expressed no expectations of assessing a Public Health 
Trust Fund fee higher than $5M. Furthermore, the Commission believes that this kind of 
funding mechanism for regulatory and public health costs is one of the strengths of the 
expanded gaming legislation, and we would not recommend that it be revisited by the 
Legislature. 
 

13. Chapter 62B, Section 2: Withholding of taxes on winnings of $600 or greater. 
The Commission has already submitted a proposal to the Legislature on this issue, which 

287



recommends adopting the Internal Revenue Service’s standards for withholding tax, including 
raising the threshold to $1200 (See Attachment A). We further recommend that if the 
Legislature decides to replace this section with a section mirroring the federal IRS standards, 
that the Legislature change all the other $600 thresholds in Chapter 23K (including Sections 51 
and 52) to match the federal $1200 threshold. 
 

14. Parity of tax rate. 
Both Wynn and MGM express concern that a tribal casino could be authorized in Massachusetts, 
and operate at a tax rate significantly below the tax rate on the Massachusetts license holders. 
In various ways, they each call for matching the tax rate of commercial casinos to the tax rate of 
tribal casinos and reserve their right to lobby accordingly for such changes. 
 
The Commission in its discussions to date clearly understands the potential challenges posed by 
a Tribal casino operating under the presently approved Compact, and the nearly insurmountable 
conundrums raised by the range of Tribal options. We will continue to discuss this issue in 
public, and will wrestle with the reconciliation of these competing interests with the same 
transparency with which we have approached our other work. At this point, however, we do 
not see any action that the Commission should take other than to continue judiciously with 
the commercial process, and wait out the Tribal process. Any change in the tax rate would 
obviously require Legislative action, but the Commission does not recommend that the 
Legislature consider any action on this issue at this time. 
 

15. Chapter 23K, Section 27(E): Credit  
No person, other than a gaming licensee, shall issue credit to a patron in a gaming 
establishment. 
 
MGM reads this section to possibly preclude ATM’s located in the gaming establishment from 
being utilized for a cash advance. Since the Commission does not interpret the section to 
preclude such transactions (believing that each use of a credit or debit card is not an issuance 
of credit; the issuance of credit occurs initially when the card is granted), no legislative action 
is required. 
 

16. CORI modifications. 
A number of groups have expressed concern that CORI standards in the expanded gaming law 
(specifically the “automatic disqualifiers” identified in G.L. c.23K, §16) will preclude many people 
in the targeted groups for employment, and that they are unnecessarily rigid in protecting the 
integrity of the gaming process. We have researched this issue thoroughly, including soliciting an 
opinion from our gaming consultant Michael & Carroll, found in Attachment B. This opinion 
documents best practices in other jurisdictions, and concludes that the present Massachusetts 
statute is inconsistent with those best practices. The Commission agrees, as do our applicants. 
Accordingly, the Commission recommends that the Legislature amend Section 16(b) in the 
following manner (amendments in red): 

288



  
Section 16. (a) The commission shall deny an application for a gaming license or a license for a 
key gaming employee issued under this chapter, if the applicant: (i) has been convicted of a 
felony or other crime involving embezzlement, theft, fraud or perjury; (ii) submitted an 
application for a license under this chapter that contains false or misleading information; (iii) 
committed prior acts which have not been prosecuted or in which the applicant was not 
convicted but form a pattern of misconduct that makes the applicant unsuitable for a license 
under this chapter; or (iv) has affiliates or close associates that would not qualify for a license or 
whose relationship with the applicant may pose an injurious threat to the interests of the 
commonwealth in awarding a gaming license to the applicant. 

 
(b) The commission shall deny an application for a license or registration, other than a gaming 
license or a license for a key gaming employee, under this chapter if the applicant: (i) has been 
convicted of a felony or other crime involving embezzlement, theft, fraud or perjury; provided, 
however, that in the case of an applicant for a gaming employee license, for convictions which 
occurred before the 10-year period immediately preceding application for licensure, an applicant 
may demonstrate, and the commission shall consider, the applicant’s rehabilitation and whether 
such conviction should not be an automatic disqualification under this section; provided further, 
that in the case of an applicant for a registration or license other than a gaming employee 
license, key gaming employee license, or gaming license an applicant may demonstrate, and the 
commission shall consider, the applicant’s rehabilition and whether such conviction should not 
be an automatic disqualification under this section; (ii) submitted an application for a license 
under this chapter that contains false or misleading information; (iii) committed prior acts which 
have not been prosecuted or in which the applicant was not convicted but form a pattern of 
misconduct that makes the applicant unsuitable for a license under this chapter; or (iv) has 
affiliates or close associates that would not qualify for a license or whose relationship with the 
applicant may pose an injurious threat to the interests of the commonwealth in awarding a 
gaming license to the applicant. 
 
[Question for the Commission: Is this how we want to handle this?] 

 

289



 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 

290




